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MANAGEMENT REPORT
On the operating performance of the

Latvijas dzelzcel§ Group in 2017

1. An overview of the Latvijas dzelzcel§ Group

The Latvijas dzelzcels Group (hereinafter “the Group”) is engaged in managing the public
access railway infrastructure and providing railway transport services and related services.

The Group consists of: the Group’s parent company VAS Latvijas dzelzcels (hereinafter
“Latvijas dzelzcel§”), SIA LDZ CARGO, SIA LDZ ritosa sastava serviss, SIA LDZ infrastruktiira,
SIA LDZ apsardze, AS LatRailNet, SIA LDZ Cargo Logistika, and the subsidiary of SIA LDZ ritosa
sastava serviss — SIA Rigas Vagonbiives uznémums Baltija.

In terms of the Group’s governance, the principal task of Latvijas dzelzcel§ is to see to the
development of the Group’s business lines and their competitiveness, by achieving better results than
those that could have been achieved if each line of business were operated as a stand-alone entity. To
achieve this, a uniform strategy and objectives have been developed for the Group to ensure the best
allocation of production and investment resources between the lines of business and the Group’s
companies, aligning of the decision-making process and exercising an effective control over its
implementation. Latvijas dzelzcel§ represents the Group's interests at the international level.

Latvijas dzelzcel§ provides public access railway infrastructure services, railcar treatment
services at stations, railcar technical maintenance and inspection services, electricity distribution and
trade services, leasing services, information technology services, electronic communications services,
and the services of a principal.

SIA LDZ CARGO is engaged in providing domestic as well as international railway freight
transport services, traction services, railcar rental services, as well as in organising international
passenger transport services,

SIA LDZ ritoS§a sastava serviss is engaged in providing locomotive and railcar repair,
locomotive staffing and upgrading services.

SIA4 LDZ infrastruktiira is engaged in building railway tracks and carrying out the capital repairs
thereof.

SIA LDZ apsardze provides physical and technical security services to Group as well as other
companies and private individuals

AS LatRailNet carries out a key railway infrastructure management function. It develops and
approves tariffs for access to public railway infrastructure and is engaged in the distribution of the
railway infrastructure capacity, and makes decisions regarding the assigning of the trains of a
particular carrier.

SIA LDZ Logistika is engaged in providing forwarding and logistics services, as well as in
attracting new freight flows and promoting railway freight transport between European and Asian
countries.

The subsidiary of SI4 LDZ ritosa sastava serviss — SIA Rigas Vagonbiives uznémums Baltija
was founded with a view to developing the manufacturing of railcars in Latvia.

The principal task of the Group is to ensure the management of the national public-use railway
infrastructure and provide secure, top-quality and efficient railway and logistics services to serve the
best interests of the Group as well as the country’s national and economic interests.

To improve upon the best corporate governance practices and develop awareness of social
responsibility within the Group, as well as strengthen the sustainable and concurrently innovative
approach in the railway sector, which is rich in traditions, since 2016, Latvijas dzelzcel§ has been
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preparing sustainability reports under the internationally recognised guidelines set forth in the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) G4.

In 2017, the average number of employees employed by the Group was 11,189, by
593 employees fewer than in 2016.

2. Operating performance

In 2017, the Group’s consolidated revenue was EUR 318,638 thousand. Compared to
2016, the consolidated revenue has declined by EUR 32,483 thousand (9.3 %) due to the
declining freight volumes, accounting for the major share of the Group's consolidated net
turnover.

SIA LDZ CARGO generates most of the Group’s revenue, which is an important
company of the Latvian transit and transport sector. In 2017, 43,785 thous. tonnes of freight
were carried by rail, down by 4,034 thousand tonnes (8.4 %) compared to 2016. Import
freight accounted for the major share of the total volume (83.6 %); in 2017, their volume
reached 36,617 thous. tonnes, down by 12.9 % compared to the previous year. In terms of the
origin of the carried freights, the company’s largest counterparty is Russia, accounting for
73.7% of the total freights. The shares of carried freight by other countries were as follows:
Belarus — 19.3 %, Lithuania — 4.7 %, Ukraine — 0.8 %, Estonia — 0.6 %, Kazakhstan 0.3 %,
Uzbekistan 0.3 %, and other countries — 0,3 %.

Transporting of coal makes up the largest share of the freight structure, i.e.,
17,689 thous. tonnes (40.4 %). Transporting of oil and oil products was the second largest
item in the freight structure with 13,014 thous. tonnes (29.7 %). In 2017, other types of
freights made up 29.9 % of the total freight structure.

Using the railway network of Latvijas dzelzcel$, 15,016 million tonne kilometres have
been run, a decline of 5.4 % against the previous year. In 2017, SIA LDZ CARGO ran
0,971 million tonne kilometres. In 2017, the market share of SI4 LDZ CARGO went down to
66.4 % from 74.6 % in 2016.

One of the key indicators of the Group’s operating performance is the number of
kilometres run by trains (“train-km”), which has an impact on revenue from public access
railway infrastructure services. In 2017, the public access infrastructure of Latvijas dzelzcel§
was used to transport 43,785 thous. tonnes of freight (8,844 thous. train-km) and carry
17,494 thousand Passengers (6,075 thous. train-km). The public railway infrastructure access
services provided by the Group to non-Group carriers amounted to 2,690 thousand train-km,
whereas those of passenger transport — to 5,707 thousand train-km. In 2017, there were no
significant fluctuations in the passenger train traffic intensity compared to 2016.

The Group company SIA LDZ CARGO is the only surface transport sector player in the
Latvian transport and storage sector that provides international passenger carriage services.
SIA LDZ CARGO provided international passenger transport services on the following routes:
Riga — Moscow — Riga; Riga — St. Petersburg — Riga; as well as ensured the operation of the
Belarusian train in the route Riga — Minsk. In 2017, 160 thous. passengers were carried, an
increase of 5 % from 2016.

The Group’s after-tax profit was EUR 31,177 thous., up by EUR 30,122 thous.
compared to 2016. On 1 January 2018, the new Corporate Income Tax Law came into force,
which no longer provides for inclusion of financial and tax depreciation differences as well as
changes in created provisions in the taxable income. Derecognition of the deferred tax
liability and crediting thereof to the profit and loss increased the after-tax profit by
EUR 32,376 thousand. Although the declining freight volumes reduced the profit
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significantly, the Group has managed to achieve savings through efficiency improvements,
which has resulted in cost reduction.

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s consolidated shareholder’s equity was
EUR 392,574 thousand, up by EUR 35,554 thousand (10 %) from 2016.

The Group pursues prudent liquidity risk management to ensure that the necessary
funds are available to settle its liabilities as they fall due. At 31 December 2017, the Group's
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by EUR 18,659 thous., as a result, the total
liquidity ratio (current assets/current liabilities) was 0,9 (0.9 in 2016). Current liabilities
include deferred income of EUR 20,388 thous., which is related to investments using the EU
project and State budget financing in the public access railway infrastructure, hence, the risk
of the outflow of finances to cover these liabilities is low. The total liquidity ratio, excluding
deferred revenue, was 1. In the light of the above circumstances, we are of the opinion that in
2017, notwithstanding the declining freight volumes, the Group managed to maintain
financial soundness.

In 2017, the Group’s capital expenditure amounted to EUR 56,452 thousand. Financial
resources were invested to renovate, upgrade and acquire fixed assets, intangible assets, as
well as to construct new facilities.

In 2017, the total capital expenditure on the projects carried out by Latvijas dzelzcels
amounted to EUR 26,273 thousand. Of these, the most significant projects were:

» Completed railway track renewal works of EUR 19,303 thousand. Completed “A”

grade capital repairs of 22.5 km, and completed “B” grade capital repairs of
24.97 km.

» Upgrading of information technologies included completion of works amounting
to EUR 1,317 thousand. Within the scope of the project The Optimization of
Freight Transport Infrastructure Flow, the functionality of the accounting for
dangerous freights has been improved. With a view to improving the unified Data
warehouse of Latvijas dzelzcels, the following works were carried out: dispatcher
as well as management reports can now be generated from the Rail freight
transport indicator information system; the software version of the Document
management system has been upgraded; the Telegram solution has been
implemented; the new version of the system has undergone innovative
enhancements aimed to improve the functionality of the system;

» The heating systems in the buildings owned by Latvijas dzelzcels has been
upgraded as part of the real estate facility management. The capital repairs of
technological and station buildings have been carried out according to the annual
budget; heating systems and external engineering networks have been replaced;
connection to the central drainage system has been completed, as well as other
building-related works have been carried out. The works worth of
EUR 1,344 thous. were completed during the reporting period.

With a view to ensuring proper maintaining of the technical condition of the
locomotives owned by SIA LDZ ritosa sastava serviss as well as to be able to provide the
quantity of locomotives required by carriers, in 2017, seven diesel locomotives underwent
major capital repairs (2TE10 type locomotives); the medium-level capital repairs of one diesel
2TE116 type locomotive was carried out, while six 2M62U type diesel locomotives were
upgraded for total of EUR 28,898 thousand.
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3. Objectives and future development

Due to the changes in the regulation governing the railway sector in the European
Union (EU) and the Directive on the Single European Railway Area (2012/34/EU), on
25 February 2016, the Railway Law was amended and the Cabinet Regulation was issued on
the basis thereof. They provide for the changes in relation to the provision of services and the
service tariff calculation methodology. Regulation (EU) 2015/909 implementing the Directive
has been adopted, providing for the procedure for calculating costs arising directly due to the
provision of train traffic services, which will change the pricing methodology for the railway
capacity sales service. The new methodology shall apply as of 1 January 2019.

Under the Railway Law, the Ministry of Transport has developed the draft indicative
railway infrastructure development strategy (plan). The draft plan requires the approval by the
Cabinet of Ministers. Based on the draft indicative railway infrastructure development
strategy (plan), the public railway infrastructure manager will develop a business plan, which
will comprise investment and financing programmes, as well as ensure the consistency
between the contractual terms and the business plan. Pursuant to the amendments to the
Railway Law, a multi-annual contract would need to be entered into between the
infrastructure manager and the Ministry of Transport. Entering into the contract is a very
important aspect for achieving financial soundness as infrastructure volume and quality
indicators will be set forth therein. The contract should also provide for adequate financing.

The efficiency of infrastructure services will be one of the decisive factors in the
competition for the freight carriage by rail. The priority projects for Latvijas dzelzcels will be
such that aim to directly improve the efficiency and security of the services, promote the
growth of freight transport volumes, and increase the competitiveness of the Latvian transport
sector as a whole.

In order to improve the efficiency of freight transport and promote the use of
environmentally-friendly technologies and increased international competitiveness of Latvijas
dzelzcel$ transit corridor, the Company contemplates carrying out of a project entailing a full
electrification of the main railway network (trunk routes), using the 25kV AC technology.

As part of the EU fund and the Cohesion policy funds 2014-2020 programming period
Operational programme “Growth and employment”, priority area “Sustainable transport
system”, specific aid measure 6.2.1, 6.2.1.1 activity “The electrification of the Latvian railway
network”, carrying out of a large project is contemplated (the available Cohesion Fund
financing is EUR 346,639 thousand), which would need to be implemented by 2023. By the
end of 2023, the electrification of the rail sections Daugavpils —Rezekne and Krustpils — Riga
is budgeted. The railway network electrification sections, which can qualify for the objective
of the measure 6.2.1.1 comprise the electrification of such railway network sections, which
are used for freight transporting most intensively, and the electrification of which would
significantly reduce CO emissions in Latvia produced by railway transport. As part of the EU
fund and the Cohesion policy funds 2014-2020 programming period, Operational programme
“Growth and employment”, priority area “Sustainable transport system”, specific aid measure
6.2.1 “Ensuring a competitive and environmentally friendly TEN-T railway network,
contributing to its safety, quality and capacity” as well as the measure 6.2.1.2 “The upgrading
and construction of the railway infrastructure”, carrying out of a number of significant
projects is contemplated (the available Cohesion Fund financing is EUR 107,288 thousand).

Rebuilding and renewing of the most significant railway junctions will contribute to
timely and smooth freight transport flows, concurrently improving the problem sections of the

9



VAS Latvijas dzelzcel$
Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

railway infrastructure and stabilising the functioning, as well as security thereof. Currently,
the following projects are in progress: “The upgrading of the Rigas railway junction section
Sarkandaugava-Mangali-Ziemelblazma”, with the total costs of EUR 25 million including the
co-financing by the CF (85 %), “the Development of Daugavpils Skiro§anas station”, with the
total costs of EUR 36.6 million including the co-financing by the CF (85 %), and “The
development of the Daugavpils acceptance yard and the access roads thereto”, with the total
costs of EUR 43.5 million including the co-financing of the CF (85 %).

Apart from the above-mentioned projects, preparing of the following projects is
contemplated:

» “The implementation of a single train movement planning and management
information system”, which provides for merging of several management systems
currently functioning on a stand-alone basis.

» “The upgrading of the railway passenger service infrastructure” aimed to raise the
comfort standards of the passengers travelling by rail, improve the availability and
safety of the rail transport, as well as ensure access to railway carriage services by
individuals with reduced mobility.

Being aware of the future market trends, the Group has been developing a group of
advanced, efficient and environmentally friendly infrastructure and logistics companies, by
providing railway infrastructure management and logistics services to best serve the interests
of Latvian society and economy. Developing of logistics requires the use of the “one-stop-
shop” principle in providing services to customers, which SI4 LDZ Logistika has already been
putting into practice, by working on the development of new routes, providing a single focal
point in the chain between the consignor and the consignee, addressing all the matters related
to logistics and acting in the interests of the whole sector. The growing importance of
container cargo transportation in the Baltic Sea region must be taken into consideration. In
their development programmes, Latvian ports have also identified the need to develop freight
terminals for handling container freights, and the Group companies in cooperation with ports
should be able to come up with competitive offers to attract and process this freight segment.

Among other things, SIA LDZ Logistika has been working at developing the China,
Central Asia and North-South transport corridors between the countries in Asia and North
Europe, proposing advantageous offers for freight owners. Developing of freight transport
within Europe is being contemplated, as well as operating the express train “Minsk-Riga”
services, based on the mutual agreement between Latvian and Belarusian railway companies.

One of the priorities of the development of SI4 LDZ CARGO is raising of the customer
service quality and customer satisfaction level. To ensure the company's competitiveness
under the current market conditions, keeping of the existing customers and facilitating of
customer acquisition process is a must, ensuring, among other things a better awareness of
customer expectations and use of modern information exchange channels. In 2018,
establishing of a customer service centre pilot project is contemplated, aimed to centralise the
customer service functions within the Company. In 2018, the development of a new payment
system is being contemplated, which would ensure the centralisation of the customer billing
process and serve as the basis for centralised communication with customers.

Aimed at achieving a faster and more convenient exchange of information between the
carrier and the customer, SI4A LDZ CARGO has been actively involved in the development and
enhancing of the Freight movement management information system. The system’s
functionality provides for customer messaging, raising and using of electronic railway bills of
lading, prior notification of the customs authorities in electronic form of the freight to be
imported, and preparation and presenting of information about freights in electronic form. In
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the future, the use of the Freight movement management information system will be extended
with a view to completely getting rid of paper supporting documents in domestic as well as
international traffic.

In 2018, the container square in the Riga-Pre¢u station will be upgraded, enabling the
provision of a wider range of services to customers and promoting the development of inter-
modal transport.

Work will be carried on at the enhancing of the Automated freight wagon and train
commercial inspection, wagon number registration and recognition system at Skirotava and
Jelgava objects.

Investments will be made to acquire and upgrade the rolling stock and ensure a phased
replacement of the ageing rolling stock.

SIA LDZ ritosa sastava serviss will carry on the renewing of the primary diesel
locomotives, which was started in 2014, i.e., the upgrading of the diesel locomotives 2M62U.
The expected project completion time is April 2019. Upgraded locomotives are capable of
carrying heavy trains, the period between repairs would increase, the number of repair and
maintenance instances as well as fuel consumption would decline; these are environmentally-
friendly locomotives. The upgrading will be carried out on the basis of the CZ LOKO project
with MTU 16V4000 R34L engines. Overall, the scope of the project provides for the
upgrading of 14 primary diesel locomotives. At 31 December 2017, seven upgraded diesel
locomotives had been put into operation.

Within the scope of the pilot project carried out by SIA LDZ ritosa sastava serviss and
the company “Baltic3D.eu”, the spare parts of the locomotives and rolling stock details have
been developed for testing using the 3D printer. The initial findings after the implementation
of the pilot project support that using of the 3D printing technology for rail purposes offers
essential benefits, including time and resource savings, as well as the relative weight of the
spare parts compared to their metal counterparts. The new and innovative technologies will
also enable the rail sector to successfully implement its objectives in terms of environmentally
friendly and green transport solutions.

A significant risk that may affect the performance of Latvian dzelzcels specifically, and
that of the Group in general, is the changing political and economic environment in the
Eastern region market, as well as the development of Russian ports, as a result of which
cargoes may be diverted off Latvian ports.

To reduce the risk associated with dependence on transit freight transport in the East-
West direction, the Group intends to strengthen cooperation with its neighbouring
counterparties, as well as develop alternative lines of business, including the combining of
transport and exploiting the North-South direction. The Group will continue to participate in
the initiatives relating to the legislation governing the transport industry, setting as a priority
the development a sustainable railway infrastructure financing model

The Group will seek to continue to raise the productivity of the railway staff and
responsibility for their job duties, arrange the necessary training for them, as well as ensure
the implementation of the environmental protection policy and traffic safety.

The Group will continue to build up and maintain the reputation and role of Latvijas dzelzcels,
taking up an active position on topical matters related to the development of the transportation system
and economy.
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4. Research and development

With a view to maintaining and contributing to the long-term strengthening of the
competitiveness of the Group in such an important area as the East-West transit corridor, the
Boards of the Group companies use scientific and engineering achievements, including new
production technologies, electronic devices and applications, information and
communications systems and implement them in the Group’s operations, as well as optimise
the Group’s organisational structure.

Furthermore, in order to substantially reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emission sources
in Latvia and facilitate the transition to alternative energy sources, as well as to create the
conditions for developing new services and markets, the Group, in cooperation with its
partners from the Czech Republic and Canada have launched work on the development of a
hydrogen fuel-cell locomotive model. On 7 February 2017, the project application for the
project “Applying hydrogen in multi-modal Advanced Zero Emission transport (AMAZE) was
submitted to the European Commission Innovation and Networks Executive Agency
(hereinafter “INEA”) for obtaining the European infrastructure connecting instrument (CEF)
financing. However, because of the fierce competition among the projects (out of 349 project
applications 152 projects were approved), this project was not approved due to the lack of
financing, despite receiving a very good expert assessment. However, irrespective of that the
Group has been carrying on active research related to the development of project plan and is
looking for alternative sources of public financing for the implementation of the project plan.

On 28 February 2017, phase two of the energy management system certification audit
of Latvijas dzelzce]§ was successfully completed, and Lartvijas dzelzcels obtained the
certificate of compliance with the requirements of the standard LVS EN ISO 50 001:2012 and
fulfilled the obligations for large companies laid down in the Energy Efficiency Law.

In cooperation with the Riga Technical University, a research project has been launched
as part of which, recommendations for the repairs ot concrete sleeper cracks, detachment and
other defects as well as the choice of materials to be used will be developed. As part of the
project, the analysis of the defects of concrete sleepers and the manufacturing and testing of
concrete prototypes will be carried out.

Latvian railway environmental management professionals have been actively involved
in the work groups of the Environment Protection and Regional Development Ministry and
the Riga City Council, seeking solutions to reduce transport noise and mitigate acoustic noise
in urban areas and outside the cities.

Work has been continuing on maintaining and monitoring the results of the soil and
groundwater-monitoring network in Jelgava, Daugavpils, Rezekne, Krustpils and Riga, which
enables early identification of contamination of soil and groundwater and any remedial works,
if necessary.

5. Branches and representative offices abroad

In 2012, owing to significant freight volumes with Russia, the representative office of
Latvijas dzelzcel§ was established in the capital of Russia — Moscow. The representation
office is engaged in carrying out promoting and marketing activities in the transport area.

On 24 January 2017, the representative office of Latvijas dzelzcel§ was established in
the capital of Belarus — Minsk aimed to promote co-operation between Latvia and Belarus in
the field of rail transport and consolidate the cooperation between the transit and logistics
sectors.
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The Group does not have any foreign branches.

6. Events after the reporting period

During the period between the last day of the reporting year and the date of signing this
report, there have been no significant events to have a material effect on the Group's financial
position at 31 December 2017.

Riga, 3 April 2018

Chairman of the Board J : ) E.Berzins
Member of the Board 3 fﬁ-——"—-—é ’fA.Strakéas
Member of the Board E.Smuksts
Member of the Board A.Stﬁrmanis
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STATEMENT OF THE MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of the Group’s Parent Company (hereinafter “Management’™) is responsible
for preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 18 to 59 have been prepared on the basis
of the accounting records and source documents, and present fairly the financial position of
the Group at 31 December 2017, and its performance and cash flows for 2017.

The above-mentioned consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU on
a going concern basis. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Management
made prudent and reasonable judgements and estimates.

The Management of the Group is responsible for maintaining proper accounting
records, safeguarding the Group’s assets, and preventing and detecting fraud and other
irregularities in the Group. The Management is also responsible for compliance with the laws
of the Republic of Latvia.

Riga, 3 April 2018.

Chairman of the Board E.Berzins
Member of the Board A.StrakSas
Member of the Board E.Smuksts
Member of the Board A.Stiirmanis
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Translation from Latvian original®

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholder of VAS “Latvijas Dzelzcels”
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements set out on pages 18 to 59 of the
accompanying consolidated annual report give a true and fair view of the financial position of VAS
“Latvijas Dzelzcel$” and its subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’) as at December 31, 2017, and of their
consolidated financial performance and their consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

What we have audited
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

+ the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017,

 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended,

 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended,

- the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and

+ the notes to the consolidated financial statements which include a summary of significant
accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing adopted in the
Republic of Latvia (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements and auditor’s independence rules that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Republic of Latvia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.

Reporting on Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
e the Management Report, as set out on pages 6 to 13 of the accompanying consolidated annual
report,
e the Statement on Management Responsibility, as set out on page 14 of the accompanying
consolidated annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

' PricewaterhouseCoopers SIA, Kr. Valdemara iela 21-21, Riga, LV-1010, Latvia, LV40003142793
T: +371 6709 4400, F: +371 6783 0055, www.pwe.lv
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information included in
the consolidated annual report, and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon,
except as described in the Other Reporting Responsibilities in Accordance with the Legislation of the
Republic of Latvia section of our report.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed and in light of the knowledge and understanding of the entity
and its environment obtained in the course of our audit, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the European Union and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

‘Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
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estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Other Reporting Responsibilities in Accordance with the Legislation of the Republic of
Latvia

In addition, in accordance with the Law on Audit Services with respect to the Management Report, our
responsibility is to consider whether the Management Report is prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Law on Annual Reports and Consolidated Annual Reports.

Based solely on the work required to be undertaken in the course of our audit, in our opinion, in all
material respects:

J

e the information given in the Management Report for the financial year for which the
consolidated financial statements are prepared is consistent with the consolidated financial
statements; and

e the Management Report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Law
on Annual Reports and Consolidated Annual Reports.

PricewaterhouseCoopers SIA

Certified audit company
Licence No. 5

Ilandra Lejina Teréze Labzova-Ceicane

Member of the Board Certified auditor in charge
Certificate No. 184

Riga, Latvia

3 April 2018

* This version of our report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Latvian. All possible care has been taken to
ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information,
views or opinions, the original language version of our report takes precedence over this translation.
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VAS Latvijas dzelzcel$
Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

| | Note | 2017 |
| REEmE o4 318638 |
‘ Cost of sales ' 5 ‘ (320 571) ‘
| :
| Gross profit or loss ; ‘ (1933) |
' |
| Administrative expenses | 6 ‘ (24 616) |
| .
Other operating income ‘ 7 | 33 628 ‘
| Other operating expenses ‘ 8 | (6277) ‘
| Income from long-term investments | 13 | 311 ‘
Financial income ‘ 9 2 ‘
[ |
Financial expenses | 9 (2272) ‘
I
Profit or loss before corporate income tax | (1157) ‘
' ' |
Corporate income tax for the reporting year 10 ' 32334
Net profit for the year 31177 |
Notes on pages 25 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Riga, 3 April 2018
Chairman of the Board E. Berzins
Member of the Board A. Straksas
Member of the Board E. Smuksts
Member of the Board A. Stlirmanis
Annual accounts were prepared by VAS Latvijas dze inance department:
Deputy Finance Director, Head of the Finance Department _—S. Gasjuna

&7
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(EUR’000)
2016

351 121
(340 409) |
10 712 |
(24 461) |
37015

(13 914) |
250

1 i
(2295) |

7308 |
(6 253)
1055 |



VAS Latvijas dzelzcel§
Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

(EUR’000)
| Note | 2017 | 2016 |
[ Net profit for the year i 31177 ‘ 1055

' |
‘ Other comprehensive income: J ‘ ] |
’ |
! Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: ‘ ‘ 4377 Il (9371) |
; |
‘ Disposals of revalued of property, plant and equipment ‘ 18 [ - [ (11 024) |
‘ Deferred income tax on revalued property, plant and ‘ ‘ !
equipment recorded directly in other comprehensive | I
| income 18 | 4377 1653
| |
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year ‘ 4377 ‘ 9371) :
! Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year | ‘ 35554 (8316) |
| Total net profit and comprehensive income / (loss) ‘
| for the year attributable to the shareholders of the |
| parent company 35554 (8 316) I
Notes on pages 25 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Riga, 3 April 2018 /
Chairman of the Board g SR E. Bérzins
Member of the Board / A. Straksas
Member of the Board ' N\ E. Smuksts
Member of the Board Stirmanis
Annual accounts were prepared by VAS Latvijas dzel inance Department:

Deputy Finance Director, Head of the Finance Depaﬂmen%/ S. Gasjiina
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VAS Latvijas dzelzcel]§
Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

| ASSETS
| NON-CURRENT ASSETS
| Property, plant and equipment
|' Intangible assets
i Advance payments for property, plant and
| equipment
' Long-term financial investments
| TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
| CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
| Trade and other receivables
i Corporate income tax
| Cash and cash equivalents
| TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

Notes | 31.12.2017

|
|
| 12 | 895 784
Y 1360
‘ ‘ 745
13| 494
| | 898 383
| |
14| 24 244
[ 15 | 14 779
10 | 446
16 | 72 883
' | 112 352
| 1010735

(continued on the next page)

(EUR’000)
31.12.2016

908 066
1 559

I

|

|

|

! 756
[ 494
| 910 875
|

l 34355
|' 18 180
| 1875
| 61 084
|

|

115 494
1026 369

Notes on pages 25 to 59 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

20



|
|
|
|
|
I
[
l
[

]

VAS Latvijas dzelzcel$

Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 (continued)

(EUR’000)
| Notes | 31.12.2017. | 31.12.2016
| LIABILITIES AND EQUITY | | I
EQUITY :' | [
| Attributable to the shareholders of the Parent: | | | |
Share capital [ 17 | 256720 | 256720
Long-term investments revaluation reserve .18 | 51350 [ 46 973 |
Reserves and previous years’ retained earnings | 18 | 53327 | 52272
Current year's comprehensive income 31177 | 1055
TOTAL EQUITY 392574 | 357 020
LIABILITIES | l |
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES | I |
' Deferred income tax liabilities 10 | - | 36 752
Provisions C19 | 177 | 178
Loans from credit institutions |20 176 527 | 177 334
Other borrowings [ 21 2321 | 2438 |
Trade creditors 486 | 491 |
Deferred income 23 307 639 | 329 671
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 487150 | 546 864
SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES ' i |
Loans from credit institutions 20 | 35114 | 33399 |
Other borrowings 21 | 117 | 117
Provisions L 19 ‘ 8486 [ 15187
Trade and other payables ; 52096 | 38 738
Corporate income tax 10 | 2 | -
Taxes and the State compulsory social insurance ' 14 808
| contributions 22 ‘ ; 15 836
| Deferred income 23 | 20388 | 19 208
TOTAL SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES | 131011 | 122485
TOTAL LIABILITIES i 618161 | 669 349
| TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY | 1010735 | 1026369 |
Notes on pages 25 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Riga, 3 April 2018 -
Chairman of the Board /" / v i~/ E.Berzin§
Member of the Board - =~ A Straksas
Member of the Board g Z 2N\ uksts
Member of the Board 4#" ~— Al Sturmanls

Annual accounts were prepared by VAS Latvijas dzelzce

Deputy Finance Director, Head of the Finance Departme

R

S. Gasjiina



VAS Latvijas dzelzce]§
Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

o= "
Annual accounts were prepared by VAS Latvijas dzelzeg

:?//*,7/ ~~S. Gasjina

Deputy Finance Director, Head of the Finance Departmen

22

(EUR’000)
Attributable to the shareholders of the Parent : Total
Share Long-term | Reserves and Current
capital investments | previous years year's
revaluation retained profit
reserve | earnings
' Balance as at 01.01.2016 256 720 56344 | 42 318 583 | 355965
Profit of 2015 transferred to '
previous years’ retained earnings - - | 583 (583) -
Total contributions by and
distributions to owners - - 583 (583) -
Disposal of revalued property, i ‘
plant and equipment - (11024) | 11024 | - -
Decrease of deferred tax liability '
| arising as a result of disposal of
revalued assets - 1653 | (1 653) - -
Current year’s profit - - - 1055 | 1055
Total comprehensive income for ‘
the reporting year - (9371) 9371 1055 1055
Balance as at 31.12.2016 256 720 46 973 52272 1055 357 020
' Balance as at 01.01.2017 256 720 46 973 52272 1055 | 357020
Profit of 2016 transferred to - 4 1055 (1055) .
previous years’ retained earnings
Total contributions by and - - 1055 (1 055) -
distributions to owners
Decrease of deferred tax liability - 4377 . - 4377
arising as a result of disposal of
revalued assets
Current year’s profit - " - 31177 | 31177
Total comprehensive income for - 4377 - 31177 | 35554
the reporting year |
Balance as at 31.12.2017 256 720 ‘ 51350 53 327 31177 | 392 574
Notes on pages 25 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Riga, 3 April 2018 e
Chairman of the Board e P I),.—«- E. Bérzins$
Member of the Board e - A. Straksas
Member of the Board < E. Smuksts
Member of the Board 7 A. Stirmanis
/) 4 7



VAS Latvijas dzelzcel$

Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(using indirect method)

i Cash flows from operating activities
| Profit or loss before corporate income tax
[ Adjustments for:

Depreciation and other impairment adjustments for
property, plant and equipment

| Amortization of intangible assets

| Change in provisions

| Exchange rate fluctuations

| Income from investments into securities
] Interest income

| Revaluation of related companies

| Interest expenses

| Cash flow from operating activities before
adjustments in working capital

| Decrease / (increase) of trade receivables

| Decrease / (increase) of inventory

| Increase / (decrease) of trade payables

| Gross cash flow from operating activities
| Interest paid

i Corporate income tax paid

i Net cash generated from operations

| Cash flows from investing activities

| Acquisition of related companies

| Purchase of property, plant and equipment

| Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
| Funding received

| Interest received

| Dividends received

| Net cash used in investing activities

11

7,8
13

10

23

(continued on the next page)

23

2017

(1157)

46 921

605
(6 702)
(848)
(311)
2
2272
40778

3 403

9554
14 080
67 815
(2 276)

(471)
65 068

|
|
|
|
‘_
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
\
|
I
|
|
|
_|

|
|

(55 608) |
160 |

2 i
311 |
(55135) |

(EUR’000)
2016

7308

55379

629
(7 538)
104
(250)
1)
382
2295
58308 |

(826) |
(4 634) |
(8 856) |
43992 |
(2 353)
(3232) |
38407 |

(267) |
(53 197)
215

32 794
1

406 |
(20 048) |
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VAS Latvijas dzelzcel$
Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 (continued)

(EUR’000)
| Notes | 2017 | 2016
Cash flows from financing activities | ] [

Loans received | i 34 658 | 43377
Funding received | | 590 | -
Loans repaid [ | (33337) | (28859)
Finance lease payments | | - | N |

Net cash generated from financing activities | | 1911 | 14511
Result of foreign exchange rate fluctuations | : 45) | 5
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents | i 11799 | 32875 |
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting ‘ ‘ 61 084 ‘ 28 209
year .
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting | 16 ‘ 72 883 ’ 61 084

year

Notes on pages 25 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Riga, 3 April 2018

/

Chairman of the Board E. Bérzin$
Member ot the Board =7 A. Strakgas
Member of the Board E. Smuksts
Member of the Board A. Stiirmanis

Annual accounts prepared by VAS Latvijas dzelzce]§ Economic analysis department:

Finance Deputy Director, Head of the Finance Departmentﬁ /S_,Liasjﬁna
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VAS Latvijas dzelzcel$
Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Group provides a public railway infrastructure manager’s services and railway
transportation services.

The parent company of the Group is VAS Latvijas dzelzcel§, a company that fulfills
public railway infrastructure management functions.

The parent company has been registered in the Commercial Register of the Republic of
Latvia as a state joint-stock company and is 100% owned by the Republic of Latvia. The
Parent Company’s registered office is at 3 Gogola iela, Riga LV-1050, Latvia.

All companies within the Group are registered in the Republic of Latvia and the Groups
parent company has direct as well as indirect controlling interest. The Group includes:

| Name | Nature of services
| LDZ CARGO SIA | Cargo transportation |
| LDZ rito$a sastava serviss SIA | Rolling-stock maintenance and repair

LDZ infrastruktiira SIA | Railway track repair

LDZ apsardze SIA Security services

LatRailNet AS  Infrastructure essential function management

LDZ Logistika SIA | Transport forwarding and logistics services

Rigas Vagonbuives uzp€mums Established to develop production of freight

“Baltija” SIA | carriages in Latvia

The financial statements were approved for publication by the Board of the Parent
Company on 3 April 2018. The consolidated financial statements are approved by the general
meeting of shareholders to be convened by the Board of VAS Latvijas dzelzcel$ after
receiving the auditor’s opinion and the report of the Council.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND VALUATION METHODS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared according to the accounting
policies described below. These policies have been consistently applied to all comparative
periods unless stated otherwise.

2.1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND VALUATION METHODS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (IFRS).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis as
modified by revaluation of cargo carriages used for cargo transportation (included under
property, plant and equipment).

The accounting and valuation methods remain unchanged.

The consolidated financial statements cover the period from 1 January 2017 to 31
December 2017.
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VAS Latvijas dzelzcel§
Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

In preparing the financial statements in accordance with IFRS, the Management makes
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Future events may affect the assumptions made
by the Management. Any changes in assumptions are immediately reflected in the
consolidated financial statements as incurred. Despite estimates being prepared based on the
comprehensive information about current events and actions available to the Management, the
actual results may differ. Significant assumptions and estimates are described in Note 3.

The following new and amended IFRS and interpretations became effective in 2017, but have
no significant impact on the operations of the Group and these financial statements:

» Amendments to IAS 12 “Income taxes” — recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017).

» Amendments to IAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows” — Disclosure initiative (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017).

Certain new standards and interpretations have been published that become effective for the
accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2018 or later periods or are not yet endorsed by
the EU, and are relevant to the operations of the Company:

»IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018). Key features of the new standard are:
¢ Financial assets are required to be classified into three measurement categories:
those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost, those to be measured
subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and those to
be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). Majority of the
requirements of the IAS 39 in relation to the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities have stayed unchanged in IFRS 9. The management of the Group
has performed an evaluation of the effect of implementation of IFRS 9 and has
concluded that the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities will remain unchanged.
e JFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition of impairment losses — the
expected credit losses (ECL) model. There is a ‘three stage’ approach which is based
on the change in credit quality of financial assets since initial recognition. In practice,
the new rules mean that entities will have to record an immediate loss equal to the 12-
month ECL on initial recognition of financial assets that are not credit impaired (or
lifetime ECL for trade receivables). Where there has been a significant increase in
credit risk, impairment is measured using lifetime ECL rather than 12-month ECL.
The model includes operational simplifications for lease and trade receivables. The
management of the Group has made an estimate of ECL and has concluded that the
additional allowance which would be required as at 1 January 2018 is not material in
the context of the Group’s financial statement.
e Hedge accounting requirements were amended to align accounting more closely
with risk management. As the Group does not use hedge accounting, this requirement
is not applicable.

»IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The new standard introduces the core principle
that revenue must be recognised when the goods or services are transferred to the
customer, at the transaction price. Any bundled goods or services that are distinct must
be separately recognised, and any discounts or rebates on the contract price must
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generally be allocated to the separate elements. When the consideration varies for any
reason, minimum amounts must be recognised if they are not at significant risk of
reversal. Costs incurred to secure contracts with customers have to be capitalised and
amortised over the period when the benefits of the contract are consumed. The
management of the Group has performed an evaluation of the implementation of IFRS
15 and has concluded that it will not have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statement in 2018.

»IFRS 16 “Leases” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019).
The new standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases. All leases result in the lessee obtaining the right
to use an asset at the start of the lease and, if lease payments are made over time, also
obtaining financing. Accordingly, IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as
either operating leases or finance leases as is required by IAS 17 and, instead,
introduces a single lessee accounting model. Lessees will be required to recognise: (a)
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value; and (b) depreciation of lease assets separately from
interest on lease liabilities in the income statement. IFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues
to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two
types of leases differently. Currently the management of the Group is in process of
evaluation of the effect of implementation of the new standard. Although precise
effect has not been determined, it is estimated, that as a result of implementation of
IFRS 16 the Group’s assets and liabilities will increase.

» Amendments to IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018);

» Annual improvements to IFRS’s 2016. The amendments include changes that affect 3
standards:

e IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2017, not yet endorsed in the EU),

e [FRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, not yet endorsed in
the EU), and

o [AS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, not yet endorsed in the EU).

»IFRIC 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration” (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, not yet endorsed in the EU).

»IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019, not yet endorsed in the EU).

» Amendments to IAS 40 “Investment Property” — Transfers of investment property

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, not yet endorsed in
the EU).
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» Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” — Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, not
yet endorsed in the EU).

» Annual improvements to IFRS’s 2017 (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019, not yet endorsed in the EU). The amendments include changes
that affect 4 standards:

IFRS 3 - “Business Combinations”,

IFRS 11 - “Joint Arrangements”

IAS 12 - “Income taxes”

IAS 23 - “Borrowing costs”.

The Group has elected not to adopt these standards, revisions and interpretations in advance
of their effective dates. The Group anticipates that the adoption of standards, revisions and
interpretations will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group in the
period of initial application, except as described above.

2.2. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in the euro (EUR)
as the official currency of the Republic of Latvia, which is the Group’s presentation currency.
The functional and presentation currency of each Group company is the euro.

Foreign currency transactions and balances

All transactions denominated in foreign currencies are converted into euro at the
exchange rate set by the European Central Bank prevailing on the day the transactions took
place. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are converted into
euro at the rate set by the European Central Bank. Foreign currency gains or losses are
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Exchange rates

Currency EUR 31.12.2017. EUR 31.12.2016
USD 1,1993 1.05410
CHF 1,17020 1.07390
RUB 69,39200 64.30000

2.3. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets primarily consist of software licenses initially recognized at cost.
Estimated useful life for each type of intangible assets is finite and determined. Intangible
assets are recorded at historical cost net of accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Other
subsequent costs are charged to the consolidated statement profit or loss as incurred.
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Amortization of intangible assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over their estimated useful lives and are reflected in
consolidated profit or loss statement. Intangible assets are mainly amortized over five years.

2.4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or revalued amounts, as described
below, less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, where required.

Cargo carriages used in railway transportation are subject to revaluation with sufficient
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would
be determined using fair value at the end of the reporting period. Increases in the carrying
amount arising on revaluation are credited to other comprehensive income and increase the
revaluation surplus in equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are
recognized in other comprehensive income and decrease the previously recognized
revaluation surplus in equity; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss for the year. The
revaluation reserve for property, plant and equipment included in equity is transferred directly
to retained earnings when the revaluation surplus is realized on the retirement or disposal of
the asset.

When an item of cargo carriages is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date
of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net
amount restated to the revalued amount of the asset. As a result, book value of cargo carriage
after revaluation equals to its revalued amount.

All other classes of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the fixed assets. The costs of self-constructed fixed assets
consist of purchase price and other direct expenditures, as well as all ancillary charges related
to its implementation in use, costs incurred in demolishing or rearranging existing assets and
modernization of assets’ location place. The costs of software licenses that are inseparable
from the equipment and ensure its proper functioning are capitalized as part of equipment.

The Group capitalizes fixed assets, if their value exceeds EUR 300 and estimated useful
life exceeds one year. Leasehold improvements are capitalized and treated as fixed assets.

If fixed assets are comprised of major components having different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items of fixed assets. The assets’ residual values, useful lives and
methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end, and adjusted prospectively, if
appropriate.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing carrying amount with
proceeds and are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

Where the carrying amount of fixed asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, it is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount (see Note 2.5).
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Depreciation

Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated using the straight-line method. Depreciation is
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Depreciation of leasehold improvements is calculated over the shorter of the assets
estimated useful life or the lease term depending on the asset category into which leasehold
improvement is falling into. Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is calculated for each class of assets using their residual values by applying
the depreciation rates specified for each asset:

| Asset category | Useful life
Buildings and rail roads 10-130 years
Perennial plants ‘ 40 years
Railway transport — carriages for technological needs and cargo 22-40 years |
transportation '
Railway transport — locomotives, diesel trains and technological | 5-40 years
equipment '

|

‘ Rail track machines ' 30 years :
Computing equipment, means of communication, copiers and 3-10 years '
related equipment -

‘ Other fixed assets 5-28 years

Fixed assets under construction

Fixed assets that are not ready for their intended use or are in installation process are
classified as ,,Fixed assets under construction”. Historical cost of assets under construction
includes borrowing costs incurred during the period of construction, and other direct
expenditure, related to fixed assets implementation in use. Borrowing costs are not capitalized
during periods in which active development of a qualifying asset is suspended.

When assets have reached their working condition for their intended use, they are reclassified
to an appropriate class of property, plant and equipment and depreciation is started from that
moment. Fixed assets under construction are regularly evaluated for impairment.

2.5. IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

There is defined estimated useful life for each tangible and intangible asset (except land
and museum collections). Value of assets, that are depreciated or amortized, is assessed for
whether or not there are indications that an asset may be impaired.

The impairment loss is the difference between the book value of the asset and its
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. To evaluate for impairment, the assets are grouped at the lowest
level for which there are identifiable cash flow (cash generating units). If an asset is impaired,
the Group writes it down to its recoverable amount and recognizes an impairment loss in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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For assets previously impaired an assessment is made at each reporting date as to
whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if
there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount.
The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in previous years.

2.6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The financial instruments consist of financial assets (available for sale investments,
loans and receivables and cash and cash equivalents) and financial liabilities (borrowings,
trade liabilities and other creditors).

Financial Assets

Financial assets include available for sale investments, accounts receivable and other
debtors, cash and cash equivalents and loans issued. The classification depends on purpose of
financial asset. The Group determines the classification of financial asset upon its initial
recognition.

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or where the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership. Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date,
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

All of the Group’s financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are not quoted
in an active market. Financial assets with maturity of less than 12 months are shown as
current assets and others as long-term investments.

Available for sale investments

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are not classified in any of the
other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or
Management intends to dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.
Unquoted equity instruments where fair value cannot be measured reliably are carried at cost,
less any impairment losses. Dividends on available for sale equity instruments are recognized
in the profit or loss statement when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets, with fixed or determinable
payment schedule. They are not quoted in an active market and not held for sale. Loans and
receivables consist of trade and other receivables. Short-term receivables are not discounted.

Loans and receivables initially are recognized at their fair value, and subsequently
accounted for at their amortized cost, using effective interest rate, less provisions for
impairment loss. Provisions for impairment loss are established when there is objective
evidence the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms
of receivables. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization, as well as default or delinquency in payments.
Provision for impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows that is discounted at the financial assets original
effective interest rate. Impairment loss for doubtful debts is recorded using an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss.
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If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because
of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized (for example, improvement of
debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognized impairment loss is reduced by adjusting the
allowance account and recognized in statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, balances of current account with
bank and short-term deposits with original maturities up to 90 days and short-term highly
liquid investments that can be easily converted into cash and are not subject to a substantial
risk of changes in value.

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are comprised of borrowings, trade and other creditors. Recognition
of financial liabilities is stopped if the contractual liabilities per agreement has ended, are met
or voided.

Creditors

Trade and other creditors are initially recognized at fair value. After initial recognition
financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate. If maturity
term of liabilities is less than a year, they are classified as short-term creditors. If maturity
exceeds one year, liabilities are classified as long-term.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs. Borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

Gains and losses are recognized in the profit or loss statement when the borrowings are
derecognized as well as through the effective interest rate method amortization process.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and fee or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortization is
included in finance cost in the profit or loss statement.

Borrowings are classified as short-term liabilities, except, if the Group has the
inalienable right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

The financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled or expires.

2.7. INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of acquisition cost or net realizable value. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Acquisition cost is
determined using the weighted average stock valuation method for fuel and gas and FIFO
(first in, first out) method for other inventory items.

Where required, a provision for impairment of obsolete, slow moving or damaged stock
is created. Provision is recognized in the consolidated profit or loss statement.
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2.8. SHARE CAPITAL AND PAYMENTS FOR USE OF STATE CAPITAL
(DIVIDENDS)

The Parent Company’s share capital consists of common shares. All shares are
dematerialized. The nominal value per share is one euro.

Dividends paid to the Parent Company’s shareholders or payments for use of state
capital are recognized as liabilities within consolidated financial statements during the period,
when the amount of dividends is approved by the shareholder of the Parent Company.

2.9. OTHER RESERVES

After approval of the consolidated financial statements, the sharcholder’s meeting
makes decision about the distribution of the profit. Part of Parent Company’s net profit, based
on the shareholder’s meeting decision, can be included in ,,Other reserves”. Usage and
distribution of other reserves is subject to shareholder meeting decisions.

2.10. PROVISIONS FOR UNUSED ANNUAL LEAVE

Amount of provisions for unused annual leave is determined by multiplying the average
daily wage of employees for the last 6 months of the reporting year by the amount of unused
annual leave in days at the end of the reporting year.

2.11. PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognized when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and the amount have been reliably estimated.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement
is recognized as a separate asset, when the reimbursement is virtually certain. Expenses
relating to provisions are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss net of any
reimbursements.

2.12. CORPORATE INCOME TAX AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The income tax includes both current and deferred tax payable. Income tax is
recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Corporate income tax is calculated in accordance with tax legislation that is in force at
the end of reporting year. Current legislation enforces application of 15% tax rate.

Until 31 December 2016 deferred tax was provided for, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the financial statements. The principal temporary differences arose from
different fixed asset depreciation rates, accrued costs and provisions which were deductible in
the future taxation periods as well as tax losses carried forward.

On July 28, 2017, a new Corporate Income Tax Law was adopted, which stipulates
that from January 1, 2018, the corporate income tax is levied on profit that arose after 2017 if
it is distributed. The new tax law does not include rules which result into timing differences
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements. Transitional provisions of the law provide that taxpayers will be able to utilise the
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unused tax losses accumulated by 31 December 2017 during next 5 taxation years for
reducing the tax payable on distributed profits by no more than 50% each year, as well as to
use provisions created by 31 December 2017 that resulted in the increase of taxable income
during the respective tax periods, for reduction of taxable profits, in the amount of their
reduction. Such amounts, if any, do not give rise to deferred income tax assets as at 31
December 2017 and thereafter, as in the situation where there is a different tax rate on
distributed profit and retained earnings, the deferred tax is calculated according to the tax rate
applicable to retained earnings, i.e. 0%. Given the circumstances, there is no longer any
reason for the existence of a deferred tax asset or liability at 31 December 2017, and the
deferred tax liability recognized by the Company as at 31 December 2016 was reduced to
zero, including a reduction in that liability in the profit and loss account for the year 2017,
except for the deferred tax recognised outside the profit or loss as the amount of this tax is
allocated to the same item in shareholders’ equity against which it was attributed when
recognised.

From taxation year 2018, corporate income tax will be calculated on the basis of
distributed profit (20/80 of the net amount payable to shareholder). Corporate tax on
distributed profit will be recognized when the shareholder of the Company make a decision
about profit distribution.

2.13. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and
represents amounts receivable for services rendered, stated net of discounts and value added
tax. The Group recognized revenue when the amounts of revenue can be reliably measured,
when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

The Group provides the following services:

e Cargo transportation services — transportation of coal, oil, chemicals, fertilizers, metals,
foodstuff, containers and other types of cargo and goods using all major East-West and
North-South corridors. Revenue is recognized based on the number of tone/kilometers
the cargo was transported during the accounting period.

e Sale of infrastructure capacity — provides the access to railway infrastructure. The
manager of infrastructure without discrimination provides these services to all carriers.
Revenue is calculated by multiplying the fee as determined by the independent fee
settler LatRailNet AS based on pricing methodology approved by Public Utilities
Commission (PUC), with the number of kilometres run by the train and recognized in
the period when movement of train has taken place. The fee was approved by the
decision of LatRailNet AS Board dated 5 November 2014 for the periods after 31
December 2014 and determined based on the Railway Act and the Regulators of Public
Services Act and approved by PUC Council decision No. 1/21 related to “Methodology
for fee calculation for public usage infrastructure services” dated 21 September 2011.

e Auxiliaries of infrastructure manager services — freight train processing, by train
formation, and without it, vehicle maintenance and repairs. Revenue is recognized when
the actual service has been provided to the customer.

e Specific services related with the service and maintenance of infrastructure — rail track
and bridge construction and repair, replacement of switches, railway machinery,
instruments and mechanisms repair and modernization of carriages, rail welding and
transportation of long rails, water canalization system installation and repair, as well as
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earth structures’ preparation. Revenue is recognized upon provision of maintenance or
when the repair works are finished.

e International passenger traffic services — ensures passenger transportation on
international  routes  Riga-Moscow-Riga and  Riga-St.  Petersburg-Riga,
Riga-Minsk-Riga. Revenue is recognized when the ticket is sold.

e Expedition services — development of cargo transportation routes, organization of
railways traffic process, including preparation of transit documents, processing and
customs clearance, transport route development, cargo delivery to the warehouse.
Revenue is recognized when the actual service has been provided to the customer.

e Rental services — the Group rents out buildings, constructions, land and other property,
plant and equipment items that are not needed for the operations, primarily to other
carriers and other companies and organizations related to the operations of the railway
infrastructure. Empty space and objects that are not needed for the Group operations are
rented out in an open market. Renting out the unused space located in the railway
infrastructure objects reduces the cost of basic services rendered. As a result, the
competitiveness of basic services increases, as does the efficiency of object usage.
Revenue is recognized in the period when services are provided.

e Electricity distribution services — electricity distribution and sales services to
individuals and legal entities as well as dependent subsidiaries, and the purchase of
electrical power for the electrical traction of passenger trains. Power distribution
(traction substations and contact network) needed for a passenger rail traction purpose is
included in the cost of infrastructure and is not included in electricity distribution
services. Latvijas dzelzcel§ provides individuals with general services fulfilling its
obligations laid down by the Electricity market law, law on Regulators of Public
Services and Rulings of the Cabinet of ministers Nr50 “Rules on sale and use of
Electricity”. The Group acts as a principal in provision of these services, thus revenue
and related costs are recognized on a gross basis. Revenue is calculated applying the
tariff on the amount of actual kilowatts used during the respective period.

e Principal services include transit clearance in the border stations, transit declaration in
the base stations temporary storage. Revenue is recognized when the actual service has
been provided to the customer.

e Rolling stock repair and maintenance services. Revenue is recognized upon provision
of maintenance or when the repair works are finished.

e Traction provision services — provides locomotive crews services to other carriers,
lacking locomotive crews for ensuring own transportation. Revenue is recognized when
the actual service has been provided to the customer based on usage of crew in the
respective accounting period.

o Electronic communications services — data and electronic messages transmission
services, leased line services, services of access points to the electronic infrastructure,
public fixed electronic voice telephony services and interconnection services. Revenue
is recognized based on actual usage of network capacity during respective accounting
period.

e Other services — these services include fuel storage and sale, equipment services, IT
services, self-produced heating sales, maintenance services and various other small-
scale services for corporate clients and individuals. Revenue is recognized when the
actual service has been provided to the customer.
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Interest income

Interest income is recognized on all interest bearing instruments on accruals basis, by
applying effective interest rate. Interest income from cash and cash equivalents is classified as
financial income.

Income from penalties

In accordance with the prudence principle, penalties, including late payment charges,
are recognized as income only when payment is received.

2.14. LEASE AGREEMENTS

Operating lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risk and rewards of ownership are retained
by the lessor are classified as operating leases.

The Group as a lessor

Assets that are leased out under operating lease terms are recorded within property,
plant and equipment at historic cost less depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using
diminishing balance method. Rental income from operating lease including advances received
is recognized over the period of the lease on a linear basis in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group leases buildings, constructions, land and other fixed assets that are not used
in operating activities as well as provides locomotive rental services. Insignificant portion of
building and land is leased out; therefore, it is not classified as investment property.

There are no significant non-cancellable lease receivables or payables arising from
operating lease agreements were the Group acts as a lessor.

The Group as a lessee

Payments made under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account over
the period of lease on a linear basis.

Finance lease — the Group as a lessee

Finance lease transactions under which the Group has substantially all risks and
rewards, which are inherent to the ownership rights on the asset, to the lessee are classified as
fixed assets in amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.
Minimum lease payments shall be apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction
of the outstanding liability, to provide to each period a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance lease expenses are reflected in statement of profit
or loss.

If there is reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership at the end of the
lease term, the period of expected use is the useful life of the asset. Otherwise the asset is
depreciated over the shortest of the lease term and its useful life.
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2.15. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND EU FUNDS

Government grants and EU funds are recognized at their fair value where there is a
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants and EU funds related to assets (fixed assets) are recorded as
»wDeferred income” and periodically recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss
proportionately to assets (property, plant and equipment items) depreciation over their
estimated useful life.

2.16. RELATED PARTIES

Related parties are defined as the State, members of the Board of the Group companies,
their close relatives, and companies in which they have significant influence or control.

2.17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Such events after the balance sheet date that provide additional information about the
financial position of the Group at the balance sheet date — adjusting events — are appropriately
reflected within consolidated financial statements. If events after the balance sheet date are
not adjusting events, they are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statement
only if material.

2.18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Social insurance and pension plan contribution

The Group makes social insurance contributions to the state pension scheme in
accordance with Latvian legislation. The state-funded pension scheme is a fixed contribution
pension plan under which the Group must make payments at statutory levels. The Group will
have no additional legal or constructive obligation to make further payments if the
state-funded pension scheme is unable to settle its liabilities to employees. Social insurance
contributions are recognized as expenses on an accrual basis and included in employee costs.
Under the Cabinet of Ministers’ Regulation No. 759 dated 6 December 2016 on the
apportionment of the national social insurance contribution rate between the types of national
social insurance in 2017, the defined level of social insurance contributions to be used for the
state funded pension scheme in 2017 is 71.99% (69.99% in 2016).

2.19. CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

The Group’s subsidiary is a company in which the Parent Company has financial or
operating control. Control is assumed to exist if the parent owns more than 50% of shares in
the subsidiary and has the ability to govern all operational decisions made by the subsidiary.

Financial statements of subsidiaries are consolidated starting from the moment when
parent company has gained control over subsidiary and consolidation is ceased when control
is lost.

The financial statements of the Companies comprising the Group are prepared by using
uniform accounting and financial policies for similar transactions and other events in similar
circumstances. If needed, the accounting and valuation methods of subsidiaries are aligned
with the methods used by the Group. The consolidated financial statements include the parent
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company’s and subsidiaries’ financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016. The
Group companies’ annual reporting period is the same and follows the calendar year.

All transactions between the Group companies, settlements and unrealized profit or
losses from transactions between the Group companies are eliminated.

3. SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires
Management to make significant assumptions. It also requires Management to make its
judgment and assumptions in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires making
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of information at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. The areas that are affected by judgments are Management judgment and
assumptions, used in determining assets recoverable value and amount of provision, as
described below.

Useful life of property, plant and equipment

The Group at each reporting date assesses useful lives of property, plant and
equipment. Based on latest Management assessments performed by Economic analysis
department of the Parent Company of the Group, current useful lives are representative of the
usage of property, plant and equipment items.

Provisions

Determination of the amount of provision is based on judgment about potential
amount of liabilities, and term when they fall due. If the events do not realize or fulfil
otherwise than expected, the amount of actual expenses may differ from initial estimates. For
more details of estimations in respect of provisions see Note 19.

38



VAS Latvijas dzelzcel§
Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

4. REVENUE
(EUR’000)
| | 2017 | 2016
| Cargo transportation | 188 558 |; 239718
‘ Sale of infrastructure capacity ‘ 62 589 [ 58 452
‘ Expedition services ] 26 969 i 13 533
| International passenger traffic services l 7682 | 7 747
| Auxiliaries of infrastructure manager I 7 656 [ 6 896
| Electricity distribution services [ 5621 | 5967
| Lease income | 4305 | 4532
' Rolling-stock repair and maintenance | 3791 | 3366
Principal services | 2561 | 3 264
| Traction provision services | 1315 | 1111
' Specific services related to maintenance and 445 | 693
repairs of infrastructure
| Electronic communications services | 412 530
Other services ' 6734 | 5312
Total | 318 638 | 351121 |
5. COST OF SALES
(EUR’000)
| 2017 | 2016
Salary expenses 111912 | 116 170
Employer’s state compulsory social security I |
contributions 26 246 27171
Fuel and gas ; 31 857 34 362
Materials i 13 801 | 14279
Electricity | 9590 10618 |
Depreciation of fixed assets and intangible 63 769 69 089 |
| assets | |
Other expenses 63396 | 68 720
I Total 320 571 340 409
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6. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

| Salary expenses

Employer’s state compulsory social insurance
contributions

| Materials, fuel and gas, electricity

| Depreciation of fixed assets and intangible assets

| Other expenses

| From those remuneration to the board members
and the council members of the parent company
of the Group

. Including salary expenses

| State compulsory social insurance employer’s
| contribution

7. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

| Deferred income (see also Note 23)

| Sale of scrap metal

| Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment
| Exchange rate fluctuations

| Penalties

| Provisions for unused annual leave

Provisions for materials that are not used for
| more than one year

| Reversal of other provisions
| State budget subsidy for damages
| Other income

| Total

40

| Total |

2017
17 043
3988

340
555
2690
24 616

567
459
108

2017
20377
2934
337
848

500 |

7289 |

230
1113
33 628

(EUR’000)
2016 |
17051 |
3964 |
|

336 |

498 |
2612 |
24 461 |

393
318 |

75 |

(EUR’000)
2016 '
19 146 |

643 |

494 |

361 |

3919 |

72
11214

1166
37015
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8. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

(EUR’000)
1 | 2017 i 2016
| Loss on disposals of fixed assets ' 1844 | 7763 |
| Costs not directly related to economic activities | 1287 | 1379 |
and costs associated with the Trade union '
| collective agreement : ,
| Foreign exchange rate fluctuations j = || 104
| Currency exchange _ 23 | 21
| Penalties ' 24 | 20
Social infrastructure expenses . 22 | 53
Increase of allowance for doubtful accounts 59 | 226
| Allowance for inventory unused for more than 910 .
| one year I
| Impairment of property, plant and equipment | 724 | -
Accrued liabilities for vacations 123 | 3566
Increase and usage of other provisions 599 | 386 |
| Other expenses 662 | 396 |
' Total | 6277 | 13914 |
9. FINANCIAL EXPENSES, NET
(EUR’000)
| 2017 2016 I
| Financial income | .
Bank interest | 2 1 |
| Financial expenses |
| Bank interest ' 2272) | (2295) |
| Including interest on long-term loans 2272) | (2295) |
| Financial expenses, net 2270) | (2 294)

10. CORPORATE INCOME TAX

Corporate income tax is calculated in accordance with tax legislation that is in force at
the end of reporting year. Current legislation enforces application of 15% tax rate.

With the entry into force of the new Corporate Income Tax Law on 1 January 2018,
there will no longer be temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and their tax base.

The principal temporary differences arise from different accounting and tax depreciation
rates used, as well as allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventories, accruals for
bonuses and compensations for work-related injuries. Considering that these will no longer be
taken into account in the calculation of the Corporate income tax, the deferred tax liability
was reduced to zero, including a reduction in the profit and loss account.
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Corporate income tax overpayment / (liabilities) at the end of the reporting year

0] - !

(EUR’000)
i 2017 ; 2016 l
| Overpaid on 1st January | 1875 | 905 |
| (Tax liabilities) on 1st January i - | (1 335)
| Calculated for the reporting year [ 42) | (24)
| Paid during the reporting year | 471 | 3232
| Transferred from other taxes ' (1 860) | (839)
| Return of tax overpayment | = I (64)
| Overpayment on 31 December [ 446 | 1875
I

| (Tax liabilities) on 31 December

Overpaid corporate income tax and corporate income tax liabilities relate to separate
legal entities within the Group. The Group has no legal rights to offset these amounts.

Corporate income tax expenses for the reporting year

(EUR’000)
| | 2017 | 2016 |
| Current corporate income tax for the reporting year |' 42 | 24 |
Change in deferred income tax liabilities during the ' (32376) 6 229
| reporting year '
Total | (32 334) 6 253

Corporate income tax differs from the theoretically calculated tax amount that would
arise applying the rate stipulated by the law to profit before taxation:

(EUR’000)

, | 2017 ! 2016

| Profit before corporate income tax | (1157) | 7308 |
; Theoretically calculated tax at a tax rate 15% | (174) 1096 |
| Permanent differences, 15%* [ 216 5157 |
| Tax credit resulting from de-recognition of deferred ‘ |
| tax liability (32 376) - |
| Corporate income tax charge for the reporting ‘ (32 334) 6 253 |

| year |

* Permanent differences mainly result from expenses that are not deductible for
corporate income tax calculation purposes, as well as from adjustments for consolidation
purposes (mainly dividend payments from subsidiaries to the parent company) and write-off
of deferred tax liabilities resulting from the changes in the law.
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Deferred corporate income tax

The movement of deferred income tax:

(EUR’000)
| Accelerated Accrued Other ‘ I'
tax unused annual accrued Total
| depreciation leave expenses expenses ‘ !
| 31.12.2015 _ 31323 | (546) | (254) | 30523 1
Profit / (loss) in consolidated | 7373 546 (36) ‘ 7 883 ‘
profit or loss statement '_ | |
Deferre'd incc?me ta)S change | (1 654) ‘ - - (1654) |
recognized directly in other |
| comprehensive income | |
| 31.12.2016 ' 37042 | - | (290) | 36752 |
| Profit / (loss) in consolidated ‘ (32 666) | - | 290 | (32376) |
| profit or loss statement , . | '
Deferred income tax change ‘ 4376) | - - | (4376
recognized directly in other -
comprehensive income
| 31.12.2017 | - - | - | - |
Net deferred income tax liabilities
(EUR’000)
l | 31.12.2017. | 31.12.2016. |
| Net deferred tax assets recoverable within 12 months ' « | (290) |
i Net deferred tax liabilities payable in more than 12 months _ ‘ G2 i
| Total net deferred income tax liabilities - | 36752 |
11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(EUR’000)
Licenses and rental rights |
| | 2017 | 2016 |
| Opening cost 1 6255 | 5719
| Additions ', 406 | 491 |
Reclassified [ = | 61 ||
| Disposals , 5) | (16)
Closing cost [ 6656 | 6 255 I
| Opening amortization | 4696 | 4083 |
Charge ’ 605 | 629 ||
| Disposals ;) | (16) :‘
| Closing amortization r 5296 | 4 696 |‘
| Opening net book value ; 1559 | 1636 ||
l Closing net book value f 1360 | 1559 i‘
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VAS Latvijas dzelzce]$
Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

During the reporting year, as well as comparative periods the Group used land of
15 027 hectares owned by the Ministry of Transport of the Republic of Latvia (mainly it is land
under railways tracks which forms part of railway infrastructure and its sole purpose is serving
as a location of railway infrastructure objects in order to ensure development of railways and
their safe operations).

Salary expenses capitalized within additions during the reporting year amount to
EUR 3 915 thousand (EUR 4 400 thousand in 2016). The amount of cash paid for repairs,
modernization and purchases of property, plant and equipment items, as well as purchases of
intangible assets and building of new objects was EUR 55 608 thousand in 2017 (EUR 53 197
thousand in 2016).

13. LONG-TERM FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

(EUR’000)
Share of ,,Latvijas | Net book value '
Company’s name e o |
dzelzcels” % | 31122017 | 31.12.2016
Belarus-Latvia joint company ‘ 3,0 | 420 | 420
| Mirigo f
| Strek SIA | 5,84 j 74 | 74 |
| Total: | X 494 | 494 |

Fair value of these investments cannot be measured reliably and therefore these assets are
carried at cost. In Management’s view the fair value of these investments is not materially
different from their book values.

During the year, dividends amounting to EUR 311 thousand were received from other
investments for the results of prior years. Revenue is recognized when there is a legal right to
receive dividends.

14. INVENTORY

(EUR’000)
! 31.12.2017. | 31.12.2016.
| Road repair materials 6276 | 8 599
| Repair parts j 12 246 | 19 077
| Other materials | 4498 | 4574
| Fuel and gas " 2351 | 2797
| Other inventory -r 907 | 432
| Gross book value ' 26278 | 35 479
| Allowances for inventory not used more than one year , (2034) | (1124)
| Net book value , 24 244 34 355
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VAS Latvijas dzelzcel$

Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

| Trade accounts receivable

| Prepaid value added tax

| Doubtful accounts receivable

| Other debtors

i Gross book value

| Allowance for doubtful debts

i Net book value

I Opening allowance for doubtful debts

| Decrease of allowance due to repayments received

; Decrease of allowance due to write-off of bad debts

Additional allowance created

? Closing allowance for doubtful debts

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

| Cash in bank
i Cash on hand
| Cash in transit

17. SHARE CAPITAL
Registered and fully paid share capital of the Parent Company of the Group

31.12.2017.
10 733

2351

1336

1 695

16 115

(1 336)

14779 |

2017
1294
(53)
(17)

|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|

114 |

1336

31.12.2017.
72 882
1

72 883 |

(EUR’000)
31.12.2016.

(1 294)
18 180

(EUR’000)
2016

1097

(239)

(31)

467

1294 |

(EUR’000)
31.12.2016.

61 082

1

1

61 084

Registered and fully paid share capital of “Latvijas dzelzcel§” is EUR 256 720 375
thousand. It consists of two hundred fifty-six million seven hundred twenty thousand three

hundred and seventy-five shares. The value of one share is EUR 1.00 (one euro).

All shares are owned by the Republic of Latvia and are fully paid for. State shares are held
by the Ministry of Transport. All of the Parent Company’s shares provide common rights to
receive dividends, rights to receive a liquidation quota and voting rights at shareholders'

meetings.
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VAS Latvijas dzelzcel§
Consolidated annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2017

Payments for use of state capital (dividends)

Dividends for the reporting year are calculated by the Group’s Parent Company as a fixed
percentage of net profit in accordance with sections 94(2), 56(1) and 28(1-2) of the Governance
of a Public Person’s Shares and Companies Act and the Cabinet of Ministers’ Regulation
No.806 of 22 December 2015, , Order, in which state corporations and public private
corporations, in which state is a shareholder, predict and set percentage of net profit to be paid
as dividends and make payments to the state budget for use of state capital” paragraph 5.

In accordance with the Cabinet of Ministers’ Regulation No.445 of 21 August 2017 “On
share of the profit of SISC Latvijas dzelzcels to be paid as dividends to the State for the year
2016 Latvijas dzelzcel§ was not required to make payments from net profit of year 2016 to the
state budget for the use of state capital.

18. LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS REVALUATION RESERVE, OTHER RESERVES
AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Starting from 1 July 2013 cargo carriages used in railways transportation that were
previously included in rolling stock are valued by the Group using revaluation method.
Revaluation of these assets performed in 2013 resulted in increase in their fair value, as a result
of which revaluation reserve was recognized (net of tax effect).

Other reserves consist of transfers from previous year’s retained earnings made based on
the Group’s Parent Company shareholder decision. After annual report is approved, the Group’s
Parent Company Board members propose on the distribution of the profit for the reporting
period, with one of the possible proposition being transfer of the profit to reserves. Final
decision about distribution of profit for the year is made by the Group’s Parent Company’s
shareholder’s meeting.

19. PROVISIONS

(EUR’000)

31.122017. | 31122016 |

| Other provisions 177 | 178 |

| Total long-term portion 177 | 178 |
| Provisions for public railway infrastructure services 6922 | 13 843
Provision for termination benefits 487 | 634
| Other provisions 1077 | 710
| Total short-term portion ' 8 486 | 15 187
| Total | 8663 | 15 365
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Movement in provisions for each type of provision in 2017:

(EUR’000)
r |
01.01.2017 Increase Decrease 31.12.2017 |
| due to usage
| Provisions for public railway 13 843 6922 (13 843) | 6922
infrastructure services :
Provisions for losses from 15 | 192 12) | 195
court cases |
Provision for termination . 634 - (147) | 487
benefits
| Other provisions | 873 | 407 | 221) | 1059
' Total | 15365 | 7521 | (14 223) | 8 663
Movement in provisions for each type of provision in 2016:
(EUR’000)
i01.01.2016 ‘ Increase | Decrease | 31.12.2016 |
| | due to usage .
\Provisions for public railway ! 20765 | 13 843 | (20 765) 13 843
infrastructure services | ‘ |
Provisions for losses from court | 990 ‘ 6 | (981) 15 |
cases , i
]Provision for termination benefits 323 | 311 | - 634
\Other provisions ' 826 | 75 | 28) | 873 !
Total 22 904 | 14235 | (21 774) | 15365 |

In 2017 the amount of provisions for financing the public use of railway infrastructure
services was reduced in total by EUR 13 843 thousand, with a remaining balance equal to
EUR 6 922 thousand. Total decrease of provisions was made taking into account amendments to
the Railways law enforced as at 10 March 2016 and planned changes in related legislative acts,
which provide the adoption of European Parliament and Council Directive 2012/34/EU
requirements in the national laws.

Usages and increases of provisions are reflected in their net amount under other operating
expenses or other operating income.

In 2017 provisions for probable losses from litigation were made in amount of 192
thousand EUR, and in total the Group has liabilities for probable losses in amount of 195
thousand EUR as at 31 December 2017.

Provisions for termination benefits are made in accordance with the collective agreement
between the Group and the trade union about payments upon termination to employees released
within five years before reaching retirement age. The provisions are based on the best estimate
of termination benefits amounting to EUR 487 thousand.

Other accruals as at 31 December 2017 include liabilities for probable compensations of
work-related injuries in amount of 177 thousand EUR; provisions for lost cargoes and damages
of cargo railcars in amount of 475 thousand EUR; and termination benefits in amount of 407
thousand EUR.
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20. LOANS FROM CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

(EUR’000)
| | 31.12.2017. | 31.12.2016.
| Long-term loans from credit institutions I 176 527 [ 177 334
| Short-term loans from credit institutions | 35114 | 33399
| Total loans from credit institutions | 211 641 | 210 733

Loans have been received from Swedbank AS, Nordea Bank AB, Luminor Bank AS, SEB
Banka AS, Danske Banka AS Latvian branch, European Investment Bank and OP Corporate
Bank Plc Latvian branch. During the reporting period total amount of loans repaid was EUR 34
703 thousand, while EUR 33 337 thousand were received. Concluded credit agreements with
banks have certain financial indicators that company has to follow during the contract period, if
the figures are not met, letters from banks are received while preparing the annual report, saying
that the lender will not require repayment of funds at a faster period.

“Latvijas dzelzce]§” and its subsidiaries signed a Group account agreement with Luminor
Bank AS, under which there was a short-term loan facility of EUR 60 000 thousand and a
current limit of EUR 40 000 thousand. Overdraft contract is binding until 2019. As at 31
December 2017 the overdraft has not been used.

State Treasury has records of the state guarantees for loans of Latvijas dzelzcels (creditor
European Investment Bank):

» guaranteed contract amount 7 004 thousand EUR, balance as at 31 December 2017 is
467 thousand EUR;

» guaranteed contract amount 27 129 USD, balance as at 31 December 2017 is 1 809
USD.

In 2009 LDZ CARGO SIA has signed two loan agreements providing security in form of
pledge. Cargo carriages with total value of EUR 8 230 thousand owned by
LDZ CARGO SIA are pledged in favour of Swedbank AS and Luminor Bank AS.

One of operating activities of LDZ rito$a sastava serviss SIA is selling of diesel fuel. In
accordance with the part 1 of section 31 of the law “On excise tax” in order to carry out
activities with excise goods and to use deferred tax payment option tax payer should provide
security. During the year LDZ rito$a sastava serviss SIA prolonged the guarantee issued by SEB
Banka AS in the form of general security for excise purposes amounting to EUR 4 000 thousand
until 1 June 2018.

Loan balances and interest rates as at 31 December 2017 are:

| Loan currency “ Loan, EUR’000 “ Interest rate

EUR 30 473 H 1M EURIBOR + 1,089% to 1,33%

123 377 || 3M EURIBOR + 0,13% to 1,61%

52 891 H 6M EURIBOR + 1,05% to 1,8%

2026 H 6M EUR LIBOR + 1,6%

S | S | 'S ) SN ) S | S—" ) S—" ) —" —

USD 915 || 5,55%
593 || 3M USD LIBOR + 0,13%
1366 H 6M USD LIBOR + 1,65%
Total | 211 641 ||
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Loan balances and interest rates as at 31 December 2016 are:

228

40 922

116 907

43 614

3142

2082

| 1350
‘ 2488

EUR

USD

Total 210 733

‘ Dienas EUR LIBOR + 1,65%

‘ 1M EURIBOR + 1,089% to 1,7%
‘ 3M EURIBOR + 0,13% to 1,61%
‘ 6M EURIBOR + 1,05% to 1,8%
‘ 6M EUR LIBOR + 1,6%

" 5,55%

| 3M USD LIBOR +0,13%

‘ 6M USD LIBOR + 1,65%

The effect of currency fluctuations on foreign currency borrowings

Borrowing Borrowing Paid during Fluctuations on
currency amount as at reporting period foreign currency
31.12.2016.
USD 5920 (2 587) (459)
Kopa 5920 (2587) (459)
21. OTHER BORROWINGS
31.12.2017.
Payments for ownership rights of optical 2321
telecommunication cable Liepaja — Jelgava — Riga — |
Valka™, including:
| Long-term portion
' Incl. payable after five years 1853 |
: Incl. payable within one to five years 468
| Short-term portion 117 |
| Total other borrowings 2438 |

(EUR’000)
Borrowing

amount as at
31.12.2017.

2874
2874

(EUR’000)
31.12.2016.
2438

1970
468
117

2555 |

"D Agreement was signed on 2013 for the total amount EUR 2 925 thousand and maturity of

2038.
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22. TAXES AND THE STATE COMPULSORY SOCIAL SECURITY CONTRIBUTIONS

(EUR’000)
| 31.12.2017. | 31.12.2016.
| State compulsory social security contributions [ 5434 | 6 841
| Personal income tax | 3036 | 3879
| Value added tax | 4862 | 3231
| Excise tax | 1423 | 1820
| Natural resources tax ‘ 15 | 15
| State fee for the maintenance of safety reserves [ 33 | 43
| Risk duty | 4 | 4
! Company tax for vehicles | = | 3
| Vehicle operating tax | 1| -
\ Total | 14 808 | 15 836
| Corporate income tax l 2 | -

Tax liabilities incurred mainly during December 2017, the Group does not have any overdue
payments to the State budget.

Calculated taxes and the state compulsory social security contributions

(EUR’000)
2017 | 2016

| State compulsory social security contributions ' 47 233 | 48 400

Personal income tax 25057 | 25 336
' Excise tax 13 844 | 16 626
| Value added tax ' 9370 | 3 666
' Real estate tax ' 645 | 650
| Company tax for light-duty vehicles 55 | 61 :
l Natural resources tax ' 56 | 44 |
i Corporate income tax , 42 | 24 ‘
| Corporate income tax from non-residents 2 | -
| Customs duty | 21 | 16 |
| Total taxes payable i 96 325 | 94 823 ‘
| Security reserve storage duty 325 | 426
| Risk duty 48 | 51 |
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23. DEFERRED INCOME

(EUR’000)
| | 31.122017. | 31.12.2016.
| The long-term part of deferred income (Cohesion fund’s and |' 307639 | 329 671
[ State fund’s resources) | |
| Total long-term part F 307 639 | 329 671
| The short-term part of deferred income (Cohesion fund’s and ; 19 860 |
| State fund’s resources) [ | 19 208
i Other deferred income L 528 | -
| Total short-term part ; 20 388 | 19 208
| Total deferred income g 328 027 | 348 879

Major part of the deferred income is comprised of EU funds and State budget funding,
received for the purpose of development of the railway infrastructure. 590 thousand EUR, which
are presented as Other deferred income, relates to funding received from the State budget for
compensation of losses caused by heavy rain floods in August 2017, which caused damage to
the railway infrastructure, based on the law “On state budget for 2017 and Cabinet of Ministers
regulation No 569 “On granting of funding from state budget program “Funding for unexpected
cases””’dated 11 October 2017.

Movement in deferred income from EU projects in 2017:

(EUR’000)
[ [ .

‘ Deferred Balance as | Reclassified | Adjust- Decre(:llse - fix?d Balance as at |
| income | at ‘ eclassifie ments ‘ assets depreciation 31.12.2017
; | 01.01.2017 | amount
! Long-term part ! 329671 | (21029) (1 003) l - | 307639 |
| Short-termpart | 19208 | 21029 5 | (20 377) 19860 |
| Total | 348879 | - (1 003) | (20 377) 327499 |

In 2017 no funding has been received for projects from EU funds and the state budget.

Movement in deferred income from EU projects in 2016:

(EUR’000)
| Bal Received during Decrease in Bal
Deferred | o onee reporting year . Adjust- | fixed assets alance
income . Reclassified ments | depreciation | as at
' 01.01.2016 | EU State P 31.12.2016
. funds budget amount |
te];fl’l“ﬁ; ) 618 | 28767 = 4027 (21 695) (46) ; 329 671
| tgfg; | 16659 g : 21 695 : (19 146) 19 208
Total
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EU funds and state budget resources received for projects in 2016:

(EUR’000)
Project name ' EU funds 1 State budget
financing financing
Project 3DP/3.3.2.1.0/13/IPIA/SM/002 Passenger rail infrastructure ' 5430 -
modernization
Project CCI20091L.V161PR001 The second railroad construction [ 4717 -
Skriveri-Krustpils
Project 3DP/3.3.1.2.0/13/IPIA/SM/003 Station Skirotava centralization 3343 -
modernization |
Project 3DP/3.3.1.2.0/10/IPIA/SM/002 Building of station Bolderaja 2 II 2988 -
with connecting railroads to the Krievu sala terminals '
Project 3DP/3.3.1.2.0/10/IPIA/SM/001 Station Skirotava sorting mount | 2370 686
reconstruction
Project 2007-LV-27060-P Reconstruction of the Rail Baltica corridor | 2235 3 341
railroad | |
| Project 3DP/3.3.1.2.0/14/IPIA/SM/001 Railroads reconstruction : 2156 | - |
Project 3DP/3.3.1.2.0/13/IPIA/SM/005 Liepaja alarm systems ' 1940 -
modernization with rail road reconstruction | '
| Project 3DP/3.3.1.2.0/13/IPIA/SM/001 Turnouts replacement and ' 1350 - |
| delivery ' |
Project 3DP/3.3.1.2.0/10/1PIA/SM/003 Modernization of alarm system, | 1135 = |
telecommunication and electricity system at Bolderaja 1 - Zasulauks ,
| Project 3DP/3.3.1.2.0/13/IPIA/SM/004 Data transmission network 883 -
| modernization '
| Project 2011-LV-93133-S LDZ Design development of electrification ' 220 -
| network . |
| Total | 28767 | 4027 |

24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s significant financial instruments are loans from credit institutions, other
borrowings, cash and bank deposits, as well as accounts receivable and payable. The main
financial instrument’s purpose is to provide financing resources for the operations of the Group.
There are many other financial assets and liabilities from the Group’s operating activities, for
example, trade receivables and trade payables.

Operations with financial instruments expose the Group to market risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk.

Risk management is carried out by the Finance Department and the Group’s Finance
Committee.
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The Group’s financial instruments by category can be presented as follows:

(EUR’000)
| | 31122017, | 31122006 |
| Loans and receivables [ |
I Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments | 10733 | 13282 |
| Cash and cash equivalents | 72 883 | 61084 |
| Available for sale | |
| Long-term financial investments [ 494 | 494
| Total financial assets | 84 110 | 74 860
| Other financial liabilities at amortized cost | |
| Loans from credit institutions | 211 641 | 210733 |
| Other borrowings | 2438 | 2555 |

Trade and other payables, excluding advances l
(including long-term part) 36 940 35360
| Total financial liabilities \ 251 019 | 248 648 |

Market risk

The market risk arises from the changes in the market risk factors, for example, foreign
currency rate and interest rate that have an influence on the Group’s income or on the value of
financial instruments. Market risk includes currency risk and interest rate risk.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk is risk to suffer losses from changes in interest rates applied to the
Group’s assets and liabilities. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk mainly from its long-
term liabilities being at variable interest rates.

All of the Group’s borrowings are with variable interest rates, except for funds borrowed
in the end of the 90s at a fixed interest rate. For more details of interest rates on borrowings see
Note 20. The Group manages interest rate risk by regular evaluation of interest rates available at
the market. If lower interest rates are available, the Group evaluates the refinancing possibilities.

Management of the Group has decided not to use any derivative financial instruments in
managing interest rate risk.

Interest rate sensitivity

The table below summarizes the sensitivity of the Group’s profit before tax to the possible
interest rate changes, with other variables being constant. The Group’s equity, except for the
reporting year’s result, is not affected.
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2017 | 2016 |
|' Base rate ' Impact on profit Base rate | Impact on profit
increase/ before tax (thousand increase/ before tax
[ decrease (base EUR) decrease (base | (thousand EUR)
points) points) '
EURIBOR | (+100) ‘ (2 088) ‘ (+100) (2 048)
| (-100) \ 2088 ’ (-100) 2048
LIBOR | (+50) | (14) [ (+50) (30)
| (-50) | 14 | (-50) , 30

Foreign exchange risk

The foreign exchange risk is risk to suffer losses due to unfavorable foreign exchange rate
fluctuations. Foreign exchange risks are mainly arising from the Group’s operating activities —
income and expenses are denominated in different currencies from loans received. Trade
receivables are mainly denominated in EUR, while bank loans mainly in EUR, and USD. For
more details of amounts see Note 27.

Main tool used by the Group for foreign exchange rate risk management is identification
of foreign currency reserves within the Group companies and matching of those with liability
settlements in foreign currencies.

Management of the Group has made a decision not to use any derivative financial instruments in
managing foreign exchange rate risk.

Foreign exchange rate sensitivity

The table below summarizes the sensitivity of the Group’s profit before tax to possible
foreign exchange rate changes, with other variables being constant. The Group’s equity, except
for reporting year’s result, is not affected.

2017 j 2016 |
Changes in Impact on profit Changes in Impact on profit |
foreign currency before tax | foreign currency before tax
| exchange rate (thousand EUR) | exchange rate (thousand EUR) |
USD i (+5%) 124 (+5%) 407 i
(-5%) (124) ' (-5%) (407)

Credit risk

Credit risk is risk due of counterparty’s inability to meet its obligations against the Group
that may result in significant losses. The Group is exposed to credit risk that arises from its
operating activities — mainly trade receivables and from its financing activities — mainly bank
deposits.

Trade receivables

In accordance with the Group policies, each Group company manages its trade receivable
risk. Before signing an agreement, credit ability of a potential customer is evaluated. Most of the
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Group companies are reducing the credit risk by providing services or selling goods only after
prepayment is received.

The Group monitors its trade receivable balances on a regular basis to minimize amount
of doubtful debts. The impairment of doubtful debts is analyzed on a regular basis.

The Group has not received any pledges for customer debts.

The Group evaluates its credit risk concentration as being moderate. As at 31 December
2017 the Group had 3 customers (3 customers in 2016) which owed the Group more than EUR
700 thousand, and comprised 55.7% (66.4% in 2016) of total trade receivables.

The Group does not have an internal credit rating system for evaluating trade receivables.

Cash deposits

In accordance with the Group’s financial management policies, credit risks arising from
the Group’s cash deposits are managed by the Group’s Finance Committee. Based on this policy
the Group’s free resources are invested only in deposits or money market funds. Before
investing in bank deposit or money market funds, the Group’s Finance Committee evaluates
credit rating of the bank and offered interest rates.

Credit ratings according to Moody’s applied credit rates used by the Group and outstanding
cash/deposit balances were as follows:

(EUR’000)
| Credit rating | 31.12.2017. | 31.12.2016.
Aa2 | = 8316
Aa3 | 67867 | 45757
Al | 5015 | :
A2 | - | 7 009
Total | 72 882 61082
The table below summarizes the Group’s exposure to credit risk:
(EUR’000)
31.12.2017. | 31.12.2016. |
| Cash and cash equivalents 72883 | 61 084
Trade and other receivables (gross) excluding . 12 069
| prepayments 14 576
Total 84952 | 75 660
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Additional information on credit risk;

(EUR’000)

| _ 31.12.2017. 31.12.2016.
| Financial assets, which are not overdue with no provisions for impairment
| Not overdue, including 82 608 | 70 002
| Cash deposits ' 72 883 | 61 084
| Trade receivables 9725 | 8918
‘ The analysis of aging structure for overdue financial assets, with no provision for impairment
| Less than 3 months " 580 | 3875
| From 3 to 12 months 428 | 489
| Total financial assets with no provisions for 83616 | 74 366
| impairment -

Financial assets, with provisions for impairment 1336 1294
| (created in full) :
i Total | 84 952 | 75 660

Liquidity risks

Liquidity risk refers to the Group’s inability to meet its obligations in defined term.

The Group’s Finance Committee manages the liquidity risk, by making sufficient reserves
and providing appropriate financing, using loans, credit lines, finance leases and other, as well as
monitors forecasted and actual cash flows and coordinates the term structure of financial assets
and liabilities.

The Group performs long-term cash flow forecasting for a year and operative cash flow
forecasting for a week. By this the Group maintains appropriate amount of recourses to provide
financing of operating expenses, to settle the Group’s liabilities and to make necessary
investments.

Short-term liabilities of the Group include deferred income related to support received
from EU projects in form of investments into development of railways public infrastructure. As
a result of this, short-term liabilities exceed current assets and show negative liquidity. It should
be noted that no financial resources will be required for settlement of these liabilities; therefore
the Group will be able to cover its current payments and retain its financial stability.

The table below provides the analysis of the Group’s liability term structure, based on
undiscounted cash flows and including interest payments in accordance with agreements:

(EUR’000)
On 31 December 2017 Lessthan | From3to | From1lto$5 More | Total
3 months 12 months years than5 |
years |
Loans from credit 9036 28 311 128 972 54 996 | 221315
institutions
Other liabilities (including 27279 | 9292 954 1853 | 39378 |
other borrowings and trade - '
‘ and other payables) _ | .
| Total | 36315 | 37 603 129926 | 56849 | 260 693
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(EUR’000)
On 31 December 2016 Less than From3to | From1to5 More Total
3 months | 12 months years than §
. - years
Loans from credit 8112 27523 | 122 833 ‘ 61 015 219 483 |
institutions | J -
Other liabilities (including | 23285 | 11706 | 954 | 1970 37915 |
other borrowings and trade | |
and other payables) | i - ‘
Total ‘ 31397 | 39229 123 787 | 62 985 257398 |

25. FAIR VALUE ESTIMATIONS

IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those
valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data
obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Group’s market assumptions.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group
considers relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.

The objective of the fair value measurement, even in inactive markets, is to arrive at the
price at which an orderly transaction would take place between market participants to sell the
asset or transfer the liability at the measurement date under current market conditions.

In order to arrive at the fair value of a financial instrument different methods are used:
quoted prices, valuation techniques incorporating observable data and valuation techniques
based on internal models. These valuation methods are divided according with the fair value
hierarchy in Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value of a financial instrument is
categorized shall be determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value in its entirety.

The classification of financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy is a two-step process:

1. Classifying each input used to determine the fair value into one of the three levels;
2.Classifying the entire financial instrument based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value in its entirety.

Quoted market prices — Level 1

Valuations in Level 1 are determined by reference to unadjusted quoted prices for identical
assets or liabilities in active markets where the quoted prices are readily available and the prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

Valuation techniques using observable inputs — Level 2

Valuation techniques in Level 2 are models where all significant inputs are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (that is, as price) or indirectly
(that is, derived from prices).

Valuation technique using significant unobservable inputs — Level 3

A valuation technique that incorporates significant inputs that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs) is classified in Level 3. Unobservable inputs are those not
readily available in an active market due to market illiquidity or complexity of the product.
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Level 3 inputs are generally determined based on observable inputs of a similar nature, historic
observations on the level of the input or analytical techniques.

Such financial assets and liabilities are included in Level 3:

» Assets: cash and cash equivalents 72 883 thousand EUR; net trade receivables 10 733
thousand EUR. Long term investments 494 thousand EUR.

» Commitments: loans from credit institutions 211 641 thousand EUR; debts to
suppliers and contractors 36 940 thousand EUR; other liabilities 2 438 thousand EUR.

Assets and liabilities for which fair value is disclosed

The carrying amount of liquid and short-term financial instruments (with maturity below 3
months), for example, cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits, short-term trade payables
and trade receivable, corresponds to its fair value.

The carrying amount of bank loans, finance lease liabilities and other long-term liabilities
is evaluated by discounting future cash flows and applying market interest rate. As interest rates
applied on loans from credit institutions, finance lease liabilities and other long-term liabilities
are mainly floating and do not significantly differ from market rates, and the risk margin
applicable to the Group has not changed significantly, the fair value of long-term liabilities
approximates their net book value.

Assets measured at fair value

Revaluation analysis of cargo carriages was performed based on requirement of the
Commercial Act of the Republic of Latvia, as well as definition of active market available in the
International valuation standards. Valuation of carriages was performed using two methods —
comparative market prices and replacement cost method for all cargo carriages. Revaluation
result reflects mainly comparative market prices, as active and liquid market for second-hand
carriages was identified and prices from that market used. Replacement cost method used as well
in order to make sure that additional aspects, which are significant for determination of carriage
value are taken into account, which may be not evaluated using only comparative market price
method. However, results of application of replacement cost method did not significantly
influence the total results — value based on market prices was adjusted by 1.9% only, which
forms insignificant part of total value, and it is therefore considered that value of cargo carriages
corresponds to the Level 3 inputs.

26. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
VAS , Latvijas dzelzcel$” is wholly owned by the Republic of Latvia.

The goal of capital management is to ensure the Group’s ability to continue on a going
concern basis and provide appropriate profitability level to the Group’s shareholder. The
Republic of Latvia, as sole shareholder has rights to make decision about the Group’s capital
changes, dividends to be paid or investments in the Group’s development.

In light of capital management, the Group evaluates proportion of borrowed capital to its
total capital. The risk management policy of the Group does not define the level of this ratio.
However, signed agreements between the Group and credit institutions define capital ratio
requirements, all of which were met as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017. While
making long-term and short-term financial plans and budgets, the Group takes into account
bank’s defined capital ratio requirements of equity to total liabilities.
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(EUR’000)
| T 31.12.2017. | 31.12.2016.
‘ Loans from credit institutions and other borrowings ‘ 214 079 ‘ 213 288
‘ Trade and other payables (including taxes) ‘ 67 392 ‘ 55065 |
| Other liabilities | 336 690 | 400 996
| Total liabilities | 618 161 | 669 349
| Equity |' 392574 | 357 020
| Total liabilities and equity f 1010735 | 1 026 369
" Borrowed capital to total capital : 61% ‘ 65% |
' Equity to total liabilities 64% | 53%

27. THE ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY CURRENCY

The table below summarizes the Group’s financial instruments in currency on 31 December
2017:

| . EUR | USD Other | Total

| currencies |
‘ . EUR’000 EUR’000 ‘ EUR’000 | EUR’000
I Trade receivables, except for advances 10 201 60 [ 472 10733
! Cash and cash equivalents 72203 285 ‘ 395 72 883
| Total financial assets 82 404 345 ‘ 867 83 616
| Loans from credit institutions . 208767 2874 | - 211641
‘ Other borrowings | 2438 - ‘ - 2438
| Trade and other payables, except for 34 027 92 ‘ 2821 36 940 |
| advances , _ .
‘ Total financial liabilities f 245232 2966 ‘ 2821 251019

The table below summarizes the Group’s financial instruments in currency on 31 December
2016:

EUR USD | Other Total
| currencies

| EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000
| Trade receivables, except for 12249 | 97 | 936 | 13282 |
! advances [ , |
‘ Cash and cash equivalents 60 419 276 389 | 61 084 |
: Total financial assets 72 668 | 373 | 1325 | 74366 |
f [ |
| Loans from credit institutions 204 813 5920 - 210733
| Other borrowings 2555 “ |l - 2 555
| Trade and other payables, except 29 850 2664 | 2 846 | 35360 |
| for advances . | ;

Total financial liabilities | 237218 8584 | 2846 | 248 648 |
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28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group plans to make capital investments into fixed and intangible assets in the next

reporting year as well, which include:
¢ Main signed, but unfinished agreements:

Counterparty’s name; Date of Maturity ' Amount,
the object of the agreement agreement EUR’000
SIA “KATISS” 04.08.2017. 30.09.2018. 418
Construction of a cable optical line at the Riga-
Skulte branch
SIA “LVS Building” 06.10.2017. | 02.12.2018. | 300
Replacement of roofing and structures in the
building at Brivibas 103 A, Liepaja ,
SIA “KATISS” 31.10.2017. 29.06.2018. 275
Reconstruction of the contact network at the |
Ogre station and at the Skirotava station I
| SIA “ANVO” | 16.03.2017. 30.03.2018 1416
VED 118A repair kit |
| ASCZLOKO | 20.07.2017. 01.02.2018. 598
I 2M62UM manufacturing and supplying parts
| needed for rebuilding the frame |

¢ Main approved projects, where agreements are not signed during the reporting year:

. Counterparty’s name; The type of Maturity Amount,

I the object of the agreement purchase EUR’000
procedure,

! date

i SIA “KATISS” Negotiated 30.09.2018. 835

| Construction of the optical fiber line in the ‘ procedure

| Plavinas-Madona block 10.10.2017.

29. CONTINGENT TAX LIABILITIES

The tax authorities have the power to examine the Group accounting records at any time
during three years after reporting year and may calculate additional tax liabilities and penalties.
The Group management is not aware of any events that could result in significant potential
liabilities in the future.

30. FUTURE LEASE PAYMENT

Under the signed operating lease agreements, lease expenses for 2017 amounted to
EUR 3 175 thousand (EUR 3 223 thousand in 2016).

As at 31 December 2017 the Group has irrevokable operating lease agreements for 212
vehicles. Irrevokable operating lease payments under these agreements amount to EUR 2 081
thousand (EUR 1 232 thousand as at 31.12.2016).

Termination of other operating lease agreements would not have a significant impact on
the financial position and operations of the Group.
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31. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

(EUR’000)
| [ 2017 . 2016
| Salary |' 131 553 | 135 796
| State compulsory social security contributions (employer’s part) | 30 845 | 31738 |

The average number of employees during the reporting year was 11 189 (11 782 in 2016).

32. RELATED PARTIES

The Group has entered into transaction with Ministry of Transport of the Republic of
Latvia (the holder of 100% Latvijas Dzelzsce]s shares) and with other state-owned companies.
The major transactions were carried out with Pasazieru vilciens AS (sale of railway
infrastructure capacity for purposes of passenger transportation and purchase of tickets)
amounting to EUR 51 466 thousand (EUR 51 236 thousand in 2016) and VAS Latvenergo
(purchase of electricity) amounting to EUR 11 904 thousand (EUR 12 969 thousand in 2016).
All transactions with related parties are related to the operating activities of the companies.

33. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

During the period between the last day of the financial year and the date of signing of this
report there have been no significant events that would have a material effect on the year end
results.

Riga, 3 April 2018

Chairman of the Board E. Bérzins
Member of the Board A. Strak$as
Member of the Board g~ E Smuksts
Member of the Board , > A Stirmanis

The financial statement has been prepared by the Finanéfal department of VAS “Latvijas

Dzelzcel§”:

Deputy finance director, Head of finance department /7) //’ S. Gasjlina
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